Revisiting astrophysical bounds on continuous spontaneous localization models

M. M. Ocampo^{1,2} M. M. Miller Bertolami^{1,2} G. León^{2,3}

¹Instituto de Astrofísica de La Plata, CONICET - Universidad Nacional de La Plata Av. Centenario S/N, Paseo del Bosque, La Plata, Argentina

²Facultad de Ciencias Astronómicas y Geofísicas, Universidad Nacional de La Plata Av. Centenario S/N, Paseo del Bosque, La Plata, Argentina

³CONICET, Godoy Cruz 2290, 1425 Ciudad Autónoma de Buenos Aires, Argentina

E-mail: mocampo@fcaglp.unlp.edu.ar

Abstract. Among the open problems in fundamental physics, few are as conceptually significant as the measurement problem in Quantum Mechanics. One of the proposed solutions to this problem is the Continuous Spontaneous Localization (CSL) model, which introduces a non-linear and stochastic modification of the Schrödinger equation. This model incorporates two parameters that can be subjected to experimental constraints. One of the most notable consequences of this theory is the spontaneous heating of massive objects; this anomalous heating is dependent on the CSL parameters. In this work, we will revisit some astrophysical bounds previously found, and introduce new methods for testing the spontaneous heating in a variety of compact objects. Finally, we will compare our different bounds and discuss the benefits and shortcomings of each one.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	CSL heating	3
3	Bounds from white dwarfs astrophysics	4
	3.2 Bounds from the secular period drift of variable white dwarfs	4 5
	3.3 Bounds from the White Dwarf Luminosity Function (WDLF)	6
4	Bounds from the Solar System	9
	4.1 Giant planets	9
	4.2 Earth and Moon	10
5	5 Estimation using PSR J2144–3933	
6	Discussion and conclusions	

1 Introduction

The measurement problem in Quantum Mechanics (QM) [1–8] arises from the coexistence of two different rules for the time evolution of a system: the deterministic dynamics dictated by Schrödinger's equation, and the so-called *collapse* of the wave function. This collapse represents an abrupt and random change in the system's physical state during measurement, contrasting with the continuous and deterministic evolution described by Schrödinger's equation. Specifically, the act of measurement appears to break or "collapse" the superposition of states (as allowed by Schrödinger's equation) into a single definite state;¹ the latter is what is always observed in actual measurements. However, the theory does not unambiguously and precisely define what constitutes a measurement. In other words, QM does not specify exactly when to apply the collapse postulate instead of Schrödinger evolution.

The measurement problem has been known since the dawn of QM and is often treated as of purely philosophical nature, essentially because of the enormous success the theory has enjoyed in applications, ranging from particle physics to condensed matter. Nevertheless, as J.S. Bell has argued [3, 4], such a pragmatic attitude is sometimes inadequate; for instance, when applying QM to the early universe [9-16]. Maudlin has characterized the quantum measurement problem in a formal manner [17]. There, it is shown that the following three premises cannot be held simultaneously in a self-consistent manner:

- 1. The physical description provided by the state vector is complete.
- 2. Quantum states always evolve according to the Schrödinger equation.
- 3. Results of experiments, i.e. measurements, always have definite results.

¹The change in the state of the physical system caused by the act of measurement also raises profound questions about the role of the observer and the nature of reality. What physical systems qualify to play the observer's role? Can QM also be used to characterize an observer or measurement device?

Objective collapse theories [18-24], also known simply as *collapse models*, are a proposal to address the measurement problem by neglecting premise 2. Collapse models postulate that each physical system interacts with an universal noise field, triggering the collapse of the wave function in space. In this scenario, the evolution of the system is given by a modified Schrödinger equation that incorporates the effect of the noise field. The effect of the noise is almost negligible for microscopic systems but becomes dominant for macro systems; this is known as the amplification mechanism. In this manner, the aim of these models is to extend QM in order to obtain a theory that reproduces its successful predictions in the microscopic realm, and can also be applied to describe macroscopic phenomena. In this work, we will analyze the Continuous Spontaneous Localization (CSL) model [20, 25–27]. The CSL model is characterized by two parameters: a collapse rate, λ (typically very small ~ 10⁻¹⁶ s⁻¹, ensuring rare collapses for microscopic systems), and a localization length, r_C (typically small $\sim 10^{-7}$ m, ensuring rapid localization for macroscopic systems). The CSL model has also been subject to experimental testing as its predictions differ from those of standard QM for certain systems [28, 29]. These empirical constraints have been obtained from various experiments, including: spontaneous X-ray emission [30, 31], matter-wave interferometry [32] and gravitational wave detectors [33, 34].

Since Newton proposed that the laws of motion that governed the stars and objects terrestrials were the same, the stars have been used multiple times to test new theories in physics. The last decades have not been an exception from this tradition. The need to incorporate a cosmological constant in our description of the universe was initially provided by the study of the luminosities of SNeIa [35, 36], and the problem of solar neutrinos offered a clear example of how stars can be used for detecting the need for new physics [37–40]. Moreover, astrophysical arguments are routinely used to put constraints on either new hypothetical particles and fields or on hypothetical properties of well-established particles [41–43]. Likewise, the deviations from standard physics predicted by the CSL model can also be constrained by astrophysical arguments.

A novel physical prediction of collapse models is spontaneous heating due to the interaction of the noise field with the system (i.e. there is a measurable non-conservation of energy). This mechanism provides a tool for constraining the parameters of the CSL model [44–51]. In Refs. [52, 53], the CSL model was applied to a Fermi liquid, obtaining an expression for the heating power induced by the collapse mechanism. Using this expression the authors made a rough estimation for the value of λ/r_{C}^{2} above which observable consequences in the structure and evolution of neutron stars and planets should appear. This was done by assuming that the thermal radiation coming from the surface of those astrophysical objects was balanced by the anomalous heating predicted in the CSL theory. In this work we will extend this analysis to a variety of astrophysical objects. The paper is organized as follows: In Section 2, we will outline the basics of the Continuous Spontaneous Localization (CSL) model and its connection to the resulting heating effect. In Section 3, we will derive bounds from the physics of white dwarfs, using both white dwarf populations and individual stars. Then, in Section 4, we will revisit the bounds derived from the internal heat flow of planets in the Solar System, and show that when external heating from the Sun is taken into account, these bounds are as restrictive as most laboratory experiments. In Section 5, we will revise the bounds from neutron stars by focusing on an interesting neutron star candidate. Finally, in Section 6, we present our results and discuss the benefits, shortcomings, and prospects of the different astrophysical bounds on the CSL parameters.

2 CSL heating

In this section, we will summarize the fundamentals of the Continuous Spontaneous Localization (CSL) model and its relation to the induced heating effect. Therefore, no original work is presented in this section. A complete review of the theory (including its derivation) can be found in [54–56].

The CSL model is an extension of Quantum Mechanics, in which a non-linear stochastic term is added to the Schrödinger equation. The non-linearity serves to break quantum superpositions, providing a self-induced collapse of the wave function in position space. Stochasticity, on the other hand, prevents faster-than-light signaling. The model also recovers the probability rule given in Born's postulate.

The dynamics of the (mass proportional) CSL model is given by the following stochastic differential equation

$$\begin{aligned} d|\psi(t)\rangle &= \left\{ -\frac{i}{\hbar} \hat{H} dt + \frac{\sqrt{\gamma}}{m_0} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} [\hat{M}(\mathbf{x}) - \langle \hat{M}(\mathbf{x}) \rangle] dW(\mathbf{x}, t) \right. \\ &- \frac{\gamma}{2m_0} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} [\hat{M}(\mathbf{x}) - \langle \hat{M}(\mathbf{x}) \rangle]^2 dt \right\} |\psi(t)\rangle, \end{aligned}$$
(2.1)

where $\gamma \equiv \lambda r_C^3 8\pi^{3/2}$, \hat{H} is the standard Hamiltonian of the system, $\langle \hat{M} \rangle \equiv \langle \psi(t) | \hat{M} | \psi(t) \rangle$, m_0 is a reference mass, traditionally chosen as the mass of a nucleon, and $W(\mathbf{x}, t)$ is an ensemble of independent Wiener processes, one for each point in space. The operator $\hat{M}(\mathbf{x})$ represents the (smeared) mass density operator

$$\hat{M}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{(\sqrt{2\pi}r_C)^3} \sum_i m_i \sum_s \int d^3 \mathbf{z} \; e^{-\frac{(\mathbf{z}-\mathbf{x})^2}{2r_C^2}} \hat{\Psi}_i^{\dagger}(\mathbf{z},s) \hat{\Psi}_i(\mathbf{z},s); \tag{2.2}$$

the operators $\hat{\Psi}_i^{\dagger}(\mathbf{z}, s)$ and $\hat{\Psi}_i(\mathbf{z}, s)$ denote respectively the creation and annihilation operators of a particle with spin s of type i in the point \mathbf{z} .

The collapse model, as characterized by Eq. (2.1), contains two parameters: The collapse rate λ , which sets the strength of the collapse, and a noise correlation length r_C , which measures the spatial resolution of the collapse.

The most common theoretical proposal for the numeric value of the parameters is given by Ghirardi, Rimini and Weber [18, 19], these are $\lambda = 10^{-16} \text{s}^{-1}$ and $r_C = 10^{-7} \text{m}$. On the other hand, experiments from gravitational wave detectors and spontaneous X-ray emissions have strongly bounded the parameters of the model, leaving the region of parameter space around $r_C \sim 10^{-7} - 10^{-4} \text{m}$ and $\lambda \sim 10^{-18} - 10^{-12} \text{ s}^{-1}$ viable [29, 57].

As mentioned in the Introduction, a particular prediction of the CSL model (as well as any collapse model) is spontaneous heating due to the interaction of the system with the noise field; this effect can also be used to constrain the model parameters. Intuitively, one can understand this effect as follows. For a system of particles, the noise field continuously acts on them, causing their wave functions to localize in space spontaneously over time. Given Heisenberg's uncertainty principle, a narrow localization in space implies an increase in kinetic energy, leading to a measurable increase in the system's temperature. In particular, for a body of total mass M, modeled as a group of particles, the mass-proportional CSL model with white noise predicts an energy gain given by [58].

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = \frac{3\hbar^2 \lambda M}{4m_0^2 r_C^2},\tag{2.3}$$

where λ and r_C are the usual parameters of the CSL model, and m_0 is the nucleon mass.

The heating effect has been analyzed for various physical systems, including monoand multi-atomic crystals [51], phononic modes in matter [50], and ultra-cold atoms [59], all resulting in the same prediction as Eq. (2.3). Furthermore, in Refs. [52, 53], the CSL-induced heating was examined for Fermi liquids; the energy gained in such a system also coincides with Eq. (2.3). The calculations derived in [52, 53] were applied to the case of neutron stars.

It is important to mention that, although Eq. (2.3) was originally derived considering a Fermi liquid, the calculation is valid for any system of fermionic particles. Moreover, the derivation does not employ any particular statistical distribution. This implies that Eq. (2.3)can be applied to a wide variety of astrophysical objects, such as white dwarfs, planets, or other compact objects, rather than being restricted solely to neutron stars. This approach will be adopted in the subsequent sections of our paper.

3 Bounds from white dwarfs astrophysics

White dwarfs are the final stage in the evolution for the majority of stars in the Universe [60, 61]. They are compact dense objects with masses similar to the Sun and radii similar to the Earth. Their structure is sustained by the pressure of the degenerate electrons and, since they cannot obtain energy from nuclear reactions, their evolution can be described primarily as a cooling process [62]. Their relatively well known physics and the possibility to actually measure their cooling speeds makes them ideal for testing a huge variety of physical models [63–67]. There are two main, mostly independent, ways to measure the cooling rate of WDs. One is based on the secular drift of the pulsation period of individual white dwarf variables, and the other is based on the number counts of white dwarfs at different luminosities in a given stellar population (the so-called white dwarf luminosity function). In this Section we will make use of these two tools in addition to the stellar parameters measured for individual WDs to obtain three different bounds for the CSL parameters.

3.1 Bounds from the thermal balance of individual white dwarfs

Following [53], we can estimate the value of λ/r_C^2 at which the anomalous CSL heating would start to produce observable consequences in WDs by balancing the energy radiated away from the star with that produced by the anomalous CSL heating effect (L_{CSL}). Assuming that neutrino emission is negligible, and that white dwarf losses its energy by thermal radiation emission from the photosphere (i.e. the stellar luminosity L_{\star}), we have

$$L_{\star} = 4\pi\sigma R_{\star}^{2} T_{\text{eff}}^{4} = L_{\text{CSL}} = \frac{3\hbar^{2}}{4m_{0}^{2}} \frac{\lambda}{r_{C}^{2}} M_{\star}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where R_{\star} is the photospheric radius, $T_{\rm eff}$ the effective temperature, and M_{\star} the mass of the star, \hbar the reduced Planck's constant, σ the Stefan-Boltzmann's constant, and m_0 is the atomic mass unit.

From Eq. 3.1, we find that values of λ/r_{C}^{2} such that

$$\frac{\lambda}{r_C^2} > \frac{\lambda}{r_C^2} \bigg|_{eq} = \frac{4L \star m_0^2}{3\hbar^2 M_\star}$$
(3.2)

would lead to a net heating of the star, as the energy radiated away from the photosphere would not be enough to counteract the anomalous CSL heating.

Now, we need a sample of stars to test this expression. Since we are interested in obtaining the lowest bound possible, we will focus on stars that are as massive and faint as possible. A good sample can be found in [68], where we can use the masses and luminosities in Table 4. By applying Eq. (3.2) to those stars, we can obtain the equilibrium values for the CSL parameters for the whole sample. The lowest numerical bounds are obtained for J1251+4403 and J1220+0914, with 1σ and 3σ precision values² of:

$$\begin{aligned} &(\lambda/r_C^2)_{J1251+4403,1\sigma} = 4.700 \times 10^5 \mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{m}^{-2}, \\ &(\lambda/r_C^2)_{J1251+4403,3\sigma} = 4.766 \times 10^5 \mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{m}^{-2}. \\ &(\lambda/r_C^2)_{J1220+0914,1\sigma} = 5.931 \times 10^5 \mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{m}^{-2} \\ &(\lambda/r_C^2)_{J1220+0914,3\sigma} = 6.019 \times 10^5 \mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{m}^{-2} \end{aligned}$$

This constraint is more than two orders of magnitude more restrictive than the one obtained in [53], which was $\lambda/r_C^2 = 9.43 \times 10^7 \text{s}^{-1} \text{m}^{-2}$ corresponding to the neutron star PSR J1840-1419.

The bounds of λ/r_C^2 derived from the thermal balance of WDs are, however, less restrictive than the values derived from icy giants in the Solar System [53]. It should be noted, however, that the use of Eq. 3.1 for the planets for the Solar System is questionable at best since, for all of them, the radiation coming from the Sun cannot be neglected in the energy balance of the planet. In Section 4, the bounds that can derived from the anomalous CSL heating of the planets in the Solar System will be explored.

However, bounds relying on the parameters of individual studies of stars should be taken with caution, mainly because they depend on the accuracy of the stellar parameters determined for each star. Interestingly, as mentioned in the introduction, there are two main independent methods to measure the cooling of white dwarfs. These observable properties can then be used to derive accurate bounds on the value of λ/r_C^2 .

3.2 Bounds from the secular period drift of variable white dwarfs

The first approach we will discuss comes from the period drift of variable white dwarfs. In what follows, we will provide a simple estimation of the effectiveness of this approach in the context of anomalous CSL heating.

It is possible to show from relatively simple arguments [69] that temporal changes in the periods of normal modes in white dwarfs (Π , $\dot{\Pi}$) are related to the WD cooling speed of the core (\dot{T}_c), and the speed at which the envelope contracts (\dot{R}_{\star}), as

$$\frac{\dot{\Pi}}{\Pi} = -a \frac{\dot{T}_c}{T_c} + b \frac{\dot{R}_{\star}}{R_{\star}},\tag{3.3}$$

where a and b are two positive constants that depend on the specific mode and evolutionary state of the white dwarf. For cold low-luminosity white dwarfs, the contraction term is almost negligible [70] $b \simeq 0$, and the period drift of normal modes is dominated by cooling. For stars that are sufficiently cold (old) that neutrino emission is negligible but still hot (young) enough that crystallization has not yet occurred, the surface luminosity of the star can be equated to the loss of thermal energy from the ions, given by $L_{\star} \simeq -\langle c_v \rangle M_{\star} \dot{T}_c$ [61].

This is the regime in which the most numerous white dwarf variables are found —the so-called DAVs or ZZ Ceti stars, see [71]. Any additional cooling or heating mechanism will

 $^{^{2}1\}sigma$ - and 3σ -values were derived by allowing 1σ and 3σ changes in the reported stellar parameters in the least favorable direction.

increase of decrease the period drift. Perturbatively, we can derive that an anomalous heating (L_{CSL}) will lead to a change in the rate of period drift of DAV white dwarfs $(\delta \dot{\Pi})$ given by (see [70]), $L_{\text{CSL}}/L_{\star} \simeq \delta \dot{\Pi}/\dot{\Pi}$.

Currently, there are only three DAV stars for which the period drift has been measured (G117-B15A, R548, and L19-2 [71]). In particular, the period $\Pi \simeq 215$ s of G117-B15A has been found to be extremely stable. More than 40 years of measurements of this period has allowed an unprecedented precision ($\Pi = 215.19738823 \pm 0.00000063$ s), allowing the most precise determination of the period drift in any DAV ($\dot{\Pi} = (5.47 \pm 0.82) \times 10^{-15}$ s s⁻¹), see [72]. This corresponds to a precision of $\delta \dot{\Pi} / \dot{\Pi} \simeq 0.15$. This implies that only an anomalous heating of about $L_{\rm CSL}/L_{\star} \simeq \delta \dot{\Pi} / \dot{\Pi} \simeq 0.15$ would be detectable. For the luminosity and mass of G117-B15A ($\log L_{\star}/L_{\odot} \simeq -2.5$ and $M_{\star} \simeq 0.59 M_{\odot}$ [64]) this implies that, currently, the best possible constraints to the CSL anomalous heating coming from variable white dwarfs would be close to $\lambda/r_{C}^2 \lesssim 5.2 \times 10^7$ m⁻²s⁻¹. This value is already smaller than the estimation coming from the thermal balance in the neutron star PSR J1840-1419 found in Ref. [53]. As a matter of fact, values of $\lambda/r_{C}^2 \gtrsim 5.2 \times 10^7$ m⁻²s⁻¹ would contradict the actual cooling speed measured in G117-B15A [72]. While this is the best bound that can be obtained from the asteroseismology of DAV WDs, similar bounds could be obtained from the other two DAV WDs for which the period drift was actually measured (R548, and L19-2 [71]).

3.3 Bounds from the White Dwarf Luminosity Function (WDLF)

The next approach we will take involves exploring the WDLF, defined as the number of white dwarfs per cubic parsec and unit bolometric magnitude as function of the bolometric magnitude [61, 65, 73]. If we limit ourselves to the intermediate luminosity regime, where both crystallization and neutrino emission can be neglected, and we assume a typical mass of $M_{\rm WD}$ for the typical WDs, the WDLF can be shown to be [67]:

$$\frac{dN}{dM_{\rm bol}} = B_3 \ 2.2 \times 10^{-4} \frac{10^{-4M_{\rm bol}/35} L_{\odot}}{78.7 L_{\odot} 10^{-2M_{\rm bol}/5} + L_X} \left(\frac{M_{\rm WD}}{M_{\odot}}\right)^{5/7} \left(\sum_j \frac{X_j}{A_j}\right) {\rm pc}^{-3} {\rm mag}^{-1}, \quad (3.4)$$

where L_X represents the additional contribution, which can be either extra cooling by emission of particles [67] or, in our work, the CSL heating mechanism. B_3 is the constant birthrate normalised to 10^{-3} pc⁻³ Gyr⁻¹, X_j is the mass fraction of the element j and A_j the mass (nucleon) number of the element j. In the present work we will consider an equal mixture of carbon and oxygen and a typical WD mass of $M_{WD} = 0.6 M_{\odot}$.

Introducing the CSL heating mechanism from Eq. 2.3 in Eq. 3.4 we obtain the following expression:

$$f_{\rm th} \equiv \left(\frac{dN}{dM_{\rm bol}}\right)_{\lambda/r_C^2} = \frac{B_3 \ 2.2 \times 10^{-4} 10^{-4M_{\rm bol}/35} L_{\odot}}{78.7 L_{\odot} 10^{-2M_{\rm bol}/5} - \frac{3\hbar\lambda M_{\rm WD}}{4m_0^2 r_C^2}} \left(\frac{M_{\rm WD}}{M_{\odot}}\right)^{5/7} \left(\sum_j \frac{X_j}{A_j}\right) \rm pc^{-3} mag^{-1},$$
(3.5)

where the minus sign in the CSL term in the denominator comes from the fact that this mechanism is heating the star. With the previous assumptions, if we consider $\lambda/r_C^2 = 0$ we recover Mestel's cooling law [62] (scaled with B_3). The extra CSL term introduces a divergence in the WDLF, predicting a limit magnitude at which the WDs should accumulate and could not cool anymore. This divergence occurs at higher luminosities for higher values of





Figure 1. Different models compared with the data of [66]. At higher values for λ/r_C^2 the thoretical WDLF diverges at lower magnitudes. All functions were normalized to have the same area under their curves on the interval displayed.

 λ/r_C^2 . Note that for sufficiently high values for the CSL parameters, there are actually fainter stars in the observable WDLF and, since the model predicts a brighter limit magnitude, these values are already discarded.

For the following test, we will estimate the values for λ/r_C^2 for which the separation between their predicted WLDF and the observable data is sufficiently large that we can discard them using a χ^2 statistic. We will concentrate in the intermediate luminosity range $10.5 < M_{\rm bol} < 15$ where both the energy release by crystallization and neutrino cooling can be neglected, allowing the use of Eq. 3.5. To define the value of B_3 , we will ensure that the theoretical WDLF yields the same number of stars per pc³ as the observational WDLF, by imposing

$$\int_{10.5}^{15} f_{\rm th} dM_{\rm bol} = \sum_{10.5}^{15} f_{\rm obs} \Delta M_{\rm bol}, \qquad (3.6)$$

where $f_{\rm obs}$ is the observational data given in [66] and shown in Figure 1 and $\Delta M_{\rm bol} = 0.5$ is the width of every box in the figure. This normalization means that all WDLF will count the same number of stars in the given interval and this will match the observed data. This is a constrain that will remove a degree of freedom in the following analysis.

Assuming that the WDLFs and the observed data are realizations of distributions with



Figure 2. The reduced χ^2 statistical for the CSL parameters and their intersection with the limits of different confidence levels. All CSL parameters higher than these intersections are discarded with the corresponding confidence level.

the same mean value μ_i at each $M_{\text{bol},i}$ and Gaussian errors, as in [66], then the quantity χ^2_{red}

$$\chi_{\rm red}^2(\lambda/r_C^2) = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{M_{\rm bol,i}=10.5}^{15} \frac{f_{\rm obs}(M_{\rm bol,i}) - f_{\rm th}(M_{\rm bol,i})}{\sigma(M_{\rm bol,i})^2},\tag{3.7}$$

will follow a χ^2 distribution and we can use it to discard the values of the CSL parameters that yield a χ^2_{red} higher than the limit given by certain confidence level. In this expression the factor 1/8 comes from the fact that we need to divide the χ^2 to the number of deegres of freedom of the sample to obtain the reduced χ^2_{red} . We plot the resultant χ^2_{red} in Figure 2.

Depending on the confidence level pursued, we can obtain different bounds for the CSL parameters, as shown in Figure 2. These bounds are, nevertheless, all of the same order of magnitude:

$$\begin{split} \left. \frac{\lambda}{r_C^2} \right|_{70\% \text{ C.L.}} &\approx 1.576 \times 10^6 \text{s}^{-1} \text{m}^{-2}, \\ \left. \frac{\lambda}{r_C^2} \right|_{95\% \text{ C.L.}} &\approx 1.912 \times 10^6 \text{s}^{-1} \text{m}^{-2}, \\ \left. \frac{\lambda}{r_C^2} \right|_{95.\% \text{ C.L.}} &\approx 2.340 \times 10^6 \text{s}^{-1} \text{m}^{-2}. \end{split}$$

Table 1.					
Planet	Intrinsic heat $flux[W/m^2]$	$(\lambda/r_C^2)_{1\sigma} [{\rm s}^{-1}{\rm m}^{-2}]$	$(\lambda/r_C^2)_{3\sigma} [{\rm s}^{-1}{\rm m}^{-2}]$		
Jupiter	7.485 ± 0.160	8.676×10^4	9.040×10^4		
Saturn	2.010 ± 0.140	5.447×10^4	$6.155 imes 10^4$		
Uranus	$0.042\substack{+0.047\\-0.042}$	2.781×10^3	5.717×10^3		
Neptune	0.433 ± 0.046	1.195×10^4	1.425×10^4		

In Section 6 we will discuss how these bounds could be further improved and compare them with the obtained in Section 4.

4 Bounds from the Solar System

As we commented in Section 3, the radiation coming from the Sun cannot be neglected in the energy balance of the planets in the Solar System. This is particularly true for planets such as Earth or Uranus, for which the radiation absorbed from the Sun is very close to that emitted from the surface. Moreover, each planet has an albedo that depends on the characteristics of its surface and atmosphere, and therefore only absorbs a fraction of radiation. Moreover, other effects such as the presence of an atmosphere (and therefore greenhouse effects) can increase the surface temperature beyond the value of the effective temperature. By using an equation like Eq. 3.1 together with the black-body temperatures obtained from [74], the estimation performed by [53] effectively compares the anomalous CSL-heating with the fraction of the Solar luminosity that is absorbed (i.e. not reflected) by each planet and needs to be thermally re-emitted in equilibrium³. Note that this is not correct, the hypothetical CSL heating should either be compared to the total observed luminosity of the planet or directly compared to the intrinsic heat released by the planet once the known solar contribution is removed. Moreover, using Eq. 3.1 squanders a great opportunity to put stricter bounds, as in many cases most of the energy radiated away from a planet comes directly from the Sun and can be easily removed from the energy budget. It is the intrinsic power of the planet, i.e. the difference between the total incoming energy from the Sun and the total emitted radiation, what should be used to set constraints on the anomalous CSL-heating —see Ref. [76] for a similar analysis in the case of the hypothetical heating introduced by a cosmological variation of the fine structure constant.

Considering again that CSL heating P_{CSL} equals the power heat emitted from their interior P_{int} , we can obtain the corresponding bounds to the parameters:

$$\frac{\lambda}{r_C^2} = \frac{4m_0^2 P_{\text{int}}}{3\hbar^2 M_{\text{p}}},\tag{4.1}$$

with $M_{\rm p}$ being the mass of each planet.

4.1 Giant planets

First, we will consider the case of the gas and icy giants, for which the energy balance was determined by Voyager and Cassini [77–80]. Their main source of internal energy is the gravothermal contraction of the planets [81]. By comparing the observationally derived internal heat flow to the potential anomalous CSL heating power, we can derive the values

³This is because the black-body temperatures presented in [74] only account for the thermal re-emission of the energy absorbed from the Sun, neglecting intrinsic planetary heat sources [75].

of λ/r_C^2 beyond which the CSL heating power would be sufficient to produce the entirety of the observed heat flux. This assumption, i.e. that the observed heat flow represents the mean steady-state value of the internal heat flow, sets a strict constraint on the values of λ/r_C^2 . Applying Eq. 4.1 to the internal heat flow plus its 1σ - and 3σ -errors, we obtain the corresponding bounds to the parameters from each planet (Table 1). As expected the derived values are smaller than those derived by [53], the only exception being Neptune for which the power absorbed from the Sun is smaller than the actual measured internal heat flux (see table 2 of [81]). Consequently, the use of the black-body temperature of [74] in Ref. [53] underestimates the heat emitted from the planet leading to an overly optimistic bound.

4.2 Earth and Moon

Now we turn our attention to our planet and the Moon. Naturally, the heat flow on Earth has been measured more precisely than on the giant planets. One of the latest determinations was performed in Ref. [82]. The authors provide a revised global estimate of the Earth surface heat flow which is based in a huge data set of 38347 measurements distributed over the whole surface of the Earth (both in land and sea). The global estimated value of the surface heat flow in Ref. [82] is 47 ± 2 TW. From Eq. 4.1 this leads to the following bounds for the CSL parameters:

$$(\lambda/r_C^2)_{\oplus,1\sigma} = 2.751 \times 10^3 \mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{m}^{-2},$$

 $(\lambda/r_C^2)_{\oplus,3\sigma} = 2.975 \times 10^3 \mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{m}^{-2}.$

This bound has the advantage of relying on experiments conducted on our own planet and covering the entire surface of the Earth. The techniques involved are also more precise and sophisticated than those possible for other celestial bodies.

On the other hand, the Moon had two *in situ* experiments, Apollo 15 and Apollo 17, where the heat flow was estimated between 12 and 18 mW/m² [83]. However, newer studies suggest that these values are overestimated by the influence of other mechanisms [84] and estimate a significantly lower value of 4.9 ± 0.2 mW/m², using Chang'E-2 microwave radiometer data and Diviner observations. With these new estimations, we obtain the lowest bound for the CSL parameters in this work:

$$(\lambda/r_C^2)_{(\mathbb{Q},1\sigma)} = 8.840 \times 10^2 \mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{m}^{-2},$$

 $(\lambda/r_C^2)_{(\mathbb{Q},3\sigma)} = 9.533 \times 10^2 \mathrm{s}^{-1} \mathrm{m}^{-2}.$

In Section 6 we will compare these bounds with the previously found in Section 3 and by other experiments. Also, we will discuss how they could be improved.

5 Estimation using PSR J2144–3933

We can revisit the astrophysical bound given by neutron stars to the CSL parameters by following the same approach done in Section 3.1, that is, finding the coldest neutron star in order to take advantage of the strong dependence of L_{\star} with the effective temperature. Again considering that the object is evolving through a simple cooling process and the star losses its energy by Stefan-Boltzmann's law we obtain, as in [53]:

$$\frac{\lambda}{r_C^2} = \frac{16\pi\sigma m_0^2 R_\star T_{\rm eff}^4}{3\hbar^2 M_\star}.$$
(5.1)

Table 2. Bounds with 3σ precision obtained for the CSL parameters in the different astrophysical approaches.

Method used	$\lambda/r_C^2[\mathrm{s}^{-1}\mathrm{m}^{-2}]$
White dwarf luminosity function	2.340×10^6
Individual white dwarf data	$4.766 imes 10^5$
Icy giants heat flux	$5.717 imes 10^3$
Earth heat flux	$2.975 imes 10^3$
Moon heat flux	9.533×10^2

In [85] the authors estimate an upper bound for the surface temperature of PSR J2144–3933, obtaining that it can not be higher than $T_{\rm eff} < 42000$ K. This would be, then, the coldest neutron star observed to this day. Assuming the least favorable values for the mass $M_{\star} = 1 M_{\odot}$ (lowest) and a coordinate radius of $R_{\star} = 16$ km (highest possible) [86, 87], we obtain a value for the CSL parameters of $\lambda/r_C^2 = 9.51 \times 10^4 {\rm s}^{-1} {\rm m}^{-2}$. This value is three orders of magnitude lower than the one obtained in [53] for PSR J 1840-1419.

Similarly to the case discussed in Section 3.1, higher values for the CSL parameters would result in a net heating of the star. However, since this bound is again obtained from data of an individual object, we face the same limitation of dependence on the accuracy in the determination of the stellar parameters. This situation is exacerbated by the fact that the stellar parameters of PSR J2144-3933 are not even determined; it might even be possible that the object is not a neutron star. For these reasons, and although this value serves as an estimation, we will not consider it a reliable bound like those previously determined for other astrophysical objects.

6 Discussion and conclusions

In this work we explored the consequences of the anomalous CSL heating in a variety of astrophysical objects. This novel predicted effect enables us to constrain the characteristic parameters of the model by estimating the values at which CSL heating would be significant enough to contradict the observational data. The results with 3σ precision are listed in Table 2.

Based on the preceding analysis, we can now briefly discuss the advantages and disadvantages of the observational bounds found in each case.

White dwarfs offer probably the most robust bounds due to their relative simplicity, well known physics, and huge amount of observational data available. However, the most important feature of these objects is that we can actually measure their cooling using the white dwarf luminosity function (WDLF) and the period drift of variable white dwarfs. Most importantly the WDLF allows us to measure the time-averaged cooling rate, over long timescales, which is precisely the aspect that would be influenced by the anomalous CSL heating. As the WDLF also relies on the measurements of thousands of WDs, its constraints are not affected by the uncertainties in determining the stellar parameters of individual stars. Moreover, in this work, we adopted a very simple model for the WDLF, which limited us to utilizing the intermediate luminosity region of the WDLF (10.5 < $M_{\rm bol}$ < 15). Current constraints could be enhanced by incorporating the new GAIA-derived WDLFs [89], as well as employing more sophisticated stellar and population models to derive the theoretical WDLF [90].



Figure 3. Schematic exclusion plot for the CSL parameters. The grey area is a theoretical limit excluded from the requirement that macroscopic superpositions do not persist in time [88] (plot obtained from [57]). The red zone is the bound found by Adler in [53] for the CSL anomalous heating of a neutron star. The green zone is our bound found by thermal emission of the white dwarf J1251+4403 and the blue zone is from the heat flow in the Moon. For the sake of completeness, we have added two more exclusion zones. The purple is from LISA Pathfinder [34], and the yellow zone is from Majorana Collaboration [31] (plots obtained from [57]). The white region is yet to be determined. Also the theoretical GRW values are shown.

Aside from the WDLF, the detection of ultra-cool white dwarfs [68] provides a stringent constraint on the CSL parameters due to spontaneous heating. Given their short reaction timescales (thermal, hydrostatic), long-term fluctuations in the heat flow are not expected and should not affect the constraints obtained from eq. 3.2. The main drawback of estimations based on the surface parameters of individual WD is their strong dependence on the accuracy of these determinations. As an example, let us note that for the star producing our best bound (J1251+4403), previous studies [91] indicated a much lower effective temperature and mass. Interestingly, current models suggest that stars used in this work to better constraint CSL-heating are only a few Gyrs old. In the future, much older, and consequently dimmer WDs will be detected. Constraints derived from ultra-cool white dwarf will be improved as dimmer and dimmer WDs are detected in the solar neighbourhood [92].

Despite not considering the estimated value in Sect. 5 a reliable bound to the CSL parameters, it is worth mentioning its potential for future considerations. If a neutron star is detected with an effective temperature comparable to that of a typical white dwarf, the constraint that could be obtained would be significantly lower due to the much more compact size of neutron stars.

The Solar System yields lower numerical values for the bounds, primarily due to the low intrinsic power emitted by the planets. Specifically, Uranus provides the lowest bound among the giant planets, and this could potentially decrease further with more precise estimations of its heat flow. Notably, this bound could even be lower than the one obtained from Earth. The main shortcoming is that these values rely on the implicit assumption that the measured heat flux is representative of its mean value over time. For example, fluctuations in the heat flow have been detected on Saturn [93], which suggests the actual bound could be higher if the power emitted increases over time. Another shortcoming is the lack of more recent observations, especially for the icy giants.

Earth warrants special consideration. Given the exceptionally high precision of heat flow measurements, which are based on tens of thousands of individual measurements covering the entire surface, Earth allows for a much stronger and more robust constraint compared to the giant planets.

Finally, the Moon yields the lowest bound in this work, which is five orders of magnitude lower than that previously found in [53] for neutron stars, more than two orders of magnitude below our lowest bound for white dwarf astrophysics, and lower than the value obtained for Earth by a factor of 3. However, as promising as this bound is, one should keep in mind that it relies on measurements conducted in a limited region of the Moon. Consequently, possible spatial and temporal fluctuations of the heat flux could lead to variations in the observational estimation of the mean heat flow. Similar to the bounds obtained from the gas and icy giants, this calculation assumes a stationary state for their intrinsic power, which cannot be assured due to the impossibility of performing experiments over the long characteristic timescales of these types of celestial bodies.

As mentioned in Sect. 1 and Sect. 2, the CSL parameters have been constrained by other experiments. In Figure 3, we plot the two most restrictive ones obtained from gravitational waves by LISA Pathfinder [34] and from spontaneous X-ray emission by the Majorana Collaboration [31], alongside our astrophysical bounds derived from this work. In particular, the Majorana Collaboration obtained a value for $(\lambda/r_C^2)_{\text{Majorana}} = 4.94 \pm 0.15 \times 10^{-1} \text{s}^{-1} \text{m}^{-2}$, which is more than three orders of magnitude lower than our lowest bound. The spontaneous X-ray emission is predicted by the CSL model from the interaction between the noise field and charged particles [94]. The proposed theoretical value of $(\lambda/r_C^2)_{\text{GRW}} \simeq 0.01 \text{ s}^{-1} \text{m}^{-2}$ remains within the acceptable region of parameter space.

On the other hand, the astrophysical bounds derived in this work, based on the spontaneous heating effect, are the strongest of this kind to date. In particular, the parameter constraints from the intrinsic heat flux of the Earth and Moon establish $\lambda \leq 2.975 \times 10^{-11} \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $\lambda \leq 9.533 \times 10^{-12} \text{ s}^{-1}$, respectively, for the reference value of $r_C = 10^{-7}$ m. These values of the CSL model parameters (characterized by white noise type) are currently the lowest obtained using astronomical and cosmological observations (see Table 1 of [29]). Furthermore, the Earth/Moon-derived bounds are approximately three orders of magnitude lower than those from cold atom experiments [95] and comparable to the order of magnitude established from low-temperature experiments of phonons [50, 51].

Our astrophysical bounds from spontaneous CSL heating could be further improved by testing on other planets or minor bodies in the Solar System. In particular, terrestrial planets with little geological activity such as Mars or Venus, or even dwarf planets and asteroids, could provide lower values due to their lack of an internal heat source. The shortcoming of this approach is the difficulty of obtaining reliable or even *in situ* measurements of the heat flow for these celestial bodies.

Acknowledgments

MMO and M3B are partially supported by PIP-2971 from CONICET (Argentina) and by PICT 2020-03316 from Agencia I+D+i (Argentina). G.L. is supported by grants Universidad Nacional de La Plata I+D G175, and PIP11220200100729CO CONICET, and CONICET (Argentina).

References

- [1] E.P. Wigner, The Problem of Measurement, American Journal of Physics 31 (1963) 6.
- [2] R. Omnes, The Interpretation of Quantum Mechanics, Princeton University Press (1994).
- [3] J.S. Bell and A. Aspect, Speakable and Unspeakable in Quantum Mechanics: Collected Papers on Quantum Philosophy, Cambridge University Press, 2 ed. (2004).
- [4] J.S. Bell, Quantum mechanics for cosmologists, Oxford University Press (1981) 611 [https://www.worldscientific.com/doi/pdf/10.1142/9789812386540_0014].
- [5] D.Z. Albert, Quantum Mechanics and Experience, Quantum Mechanics and Experience, (Harvard University Press) (1994).
- [6] E. Okon, El problema de la medición en mecánica cuántica, Revista mexicana de física E 60 (2014) 130.
- [7] T. Norsen, Foundations of Quantum Mechanics: An Exploration of the Physical Meaning of Quantum Theory (2017).
- [8] A. Becker, What is Real? The Unfinished Quest for the Meaning of Quantum Physics, Basic Books, New York (2018).
- [9] J.B. Hartle, Spacetime Quantum Mechanics and the Quantum Mechanics of Spacetime, arXiv e-prints (1993) gr [gr-qc/9304006].
- [10] A. Perez, H. Sahlmann and D. Sudarsky, On the quantum origin of the seeds of cosmic structure, Classical and Quantum Gravity 23 (2006) 2317 [gr-qc/0508100].
- [11] D. Sudarsky, Shortcomings in the Understanding of Why Cosmological Perturbations Look Classical, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 20 (2011) 509 [0906.0315].
- [12] S. Landau, G. León and D. Sudarsky, Quantum Origin of the Primordial Fluctuation Spectrum and its Statistics, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 023526 [1107.3054].
- [13] D. Sudarsky, Spontaneous Collapse Theories and Cosmology, Fundam. Theor. Phys. 198 (2020) 291.
- [14] G.R. Bengochea, G. León, P. Pearle and D. Sudarsky, Discussions about the landscape of possibilities for treatments of cosmic inflation involving continuous spontaneous localization models, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 1021 [2008.05285].
- [15] G. León and G.R. Bengochea, Enlightening the CSL model landscape in inflation, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 1055 [2107.05470].
- [16] M.P. Piccirilli and G. León, Observational constraints on the second-order primordial power spectrum: Exploring a Continuous Spontaneous Localization inspired inflationary model, Phys. Dark Univ. 43 (2024) 101390 [2312.03810].
- [17] T. Maudlin, Three measurement problems, Topoi 14 (1995) 7.
- [18] G.C. Ghirardi, A. Rimini and T. Weber, Unified dynamics for microscopic and macroscopic systems, Phys. Rev. D 34 (1986) 470.

- [19] G.C. Ghirardi, A. Rimini and T. Weber, Disentanglement of quantum wave functions: Answer to "comment on 'unified dynamics for microscopic and macroscopic systems'", Phys. Rev. D 36 (1987) 3287.
- [20] P. Pearle, Reduction of the state vector by a nonlinear schrödinger equation, Phys. Rev. D 13 (1976) 857.
- [21] L. Diosi, Gravitation and quantummechanical localization of macroobjects, Phys. Lett. A 105 (1984) 199 [1412.0201].
- [22] L. Diosi, A Universal Master Equation for the Gravitational Violation of Quantum Mechanics, Phys. Lett. A 120 (1987) 377.
- [23] L. Diosi, MODELS FOR UNIVERSAL REDUCTION OF MACROSCOPIC QUANTUM FLUCTUATIONS, Phys. Rev. A 40 (1989) 1165.
- [24] R. Penrose, The emperor's new mind. Concerning computers, minds and laws of physics (1989).
- [25] P. Pearle, Combining stochastic dynamical state-vector reduction with spontaneous localization, Phys. Rev. A 39 (1989) 2277.
- [26] G.C. Ghirardi, P.M. Pearle and A. Rimini, Markov Processes in Hilbert Space and Continuous Spontaneous Localization of Systems of Identical Particles, Phys. Rev. A 42 (1990) 78.
- [27] G. Ghirardi, R. Grassi and A. Rimini, A CONTINUOUS SPONTANEOUS REDUCTION MODEL INVOLVING GRAVITY, Phys. Rev. A 42 (1990) 1057.
- [28] G. Gasbarri, A. Belenchia, M. Carlesso, S. Donadi, A. Bassi, R. Kaltenbaek et al., Testing the foundations of quantum physics in space Interferometric and non-interferometric tests with Large Particles, Commun. Phys. 4 (2021) 155 [2106.05349].
- [29] M. Carlesso, S. Donadi, L. Ferialdi, M. Paternostro, H. Ulbricht and A. Bassi, Present status and future challenges of non-interferometric tests of collapse models, Nature Phys. 18 (2022) 243 [2203.04231].
- [30] K. Piscicchia, A. Bassi, C. Curceanu, R. Grande, S. Donadi, B. Hiesmayr et al., CSL Collapse Model Mapped with the Spontaneous Radiation, Entropy 19 (2017) 319 [1710.01973].
- [31] MAJORANA COLLABORATION collaboration, Search for spontaneous radiation from wave function collapse in the majorana demonstrator, Phys. Rev. Lett. **129** (2022) 080401.
- [32] M. Toroš and A. Bassi, Bounds on quantum collapse models from matter-wave interferometry: calculational details, J. Phys. A 51 (2018) 115302 [1601.02931].
- [33] M. Carlesso, A. Bassi, P. Falferi and A. Vinante, Experimental bounds on collapse models from gravitational wave detectors, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 124036 [1606.04581].
- [34] B. Helou, B.J.J. Slagmolen, D.E. McClelland and Y. Chen, Lisa pathfinder appreciably constrains collapse models, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 084054.
- [35] A.G. Riess, A.V. Filippenko, P. Challis, A. Clocchiatti, A. Diercks, P.M. Garnavich et al., Observational Evidence from Supernovae for an Accelerating Universe and a Cosmological Constant, AJ 116 (1998) 1009 [astro-ph/9805201].
- [36] S. Perlmutter, G. Aldering, G. Goldhaber, R.A. Knop, P. Nugent, P.G. Castro et al., Measurements of Ω and Λ from 42 High-Redshift Supernovae, ApJ 517 (1999) 565 [astro-ph/9812133].
- [37] R. Davis, D.S. Harmer and K.C. Hoffman, Search for Neutrinos from the Sun, Phys. Rev. Lett. 20 (1968) 1205.
- [38] B.T. Cleveland, T. Daily, J. Davis, Raymond, J.R. Distel, K. Lande, C.K. Lee et al., Measurement of the Solar Electron Neutrino Flux with the Homestake Chlorine Detector, ApJ 496 (1998) 505.

- [39] J.N. Bahcall, A.M. Serenelli and S. Basu, New Solar Opacities, Abundances, Helioseismology, and Neutrino Fluxes, ApJL 621 (2005) L85 [astro-ph/0412440].
- [40] J.N. Bahcall, A.M. Serenelli and S. Basu, 10,000 Standard Solar Models: A Monte Carlo Simulation, ApJS 165 (2006) 400 [astro-ph/0511337].
- [41] G.G. Raffelt, Stars as laboratories for fundamental physics : the astrophysics of neutrinos, axions, and other weakly interacting particles (1996).
- [42] M. Giannotti, I. Irastorza, J. Redondo and A. Ringwald, Cool WISPs for stellar cooling excesses, JCAP 2016 (2016) 057 [1512.08108].
- [43] S. Knapen, T. Lin and K.M. Zurek, Light dark matter: Models and constraints, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 115021 [1709.07882].
- [44] A. Vinante, M. Bahrami, A. Bassi, O. Usenko, G. Wijts and H. Oosterkamp, T. Upper Bounds on Spontaneous Wave-Function Collapse Models Using Millikelvin-Cooled Nanocantilevers, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 090402.
- [45] M. Carlesso, A. Bassi, P. Falferi and A. Vinante, Experimental bounds on collapse models from gravitational wave detectors, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 124036 [1606.04581].
- [46] B. Helou, B. Slagmolen, D.E. McClelland and Y. Chen, LISA pathfinder appreciably constrains collapse models, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 084054 [1606.03637].
- [47] A. Vinante, R. Mezzena, P. Falferi, M. Carlesso and A. Bassi, Improved Noninterferometric Test of Collapse Models Using Ultracold Cantilevers, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 110401 [1611.09776].
- [48] M. Carlesso, M. Paternostro, H. Ulbricht, A. Vinante and A. Bassi, Non-interferometric test of the continuous spontaneous localization model based on rotational optomechanics, New J. Phys. 20 (2018) 083022 [1708.04812].
- [49] R. Mishra, A. Vinante and T.P. Singh, Testing spontaneous collapse through bulk heating experiments: An estimate of the background noise, Phys. Rev. A 98 (2018) 052121 [1807.03067].
- [50] S.L. Adler and A. Vinante, Bulk heating effects as tests for collapse models, Phys. Rev. A 97 (2018) 052119.
- [51] M. Bahrami, Testing collapse models by a thermometer, Phys. Rev. A 97 (2018) 052118.
- [52] A. Tilloy and T.M. Stace, Neutron Star Heating Constraints on Wave-Function Collapse Models, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 080402 [1901.05477].
- [53] S.L. Adler, A. Bassi, M. Carlesso and A. Vinante, Testing continuous spontaneous localization with Fermi liquids, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 103001 [1901.10963].
- [54] A. Bassi and G. Ghirardi, Dynamical reduction models, Phys. Rep. 379 (2003) 257 [quant-ph/0302164].
- [55] A. Bassi, K. Lochan, S. Satin, T.P. Singh and H. Ulbricht, Models of Wave-function Collapse, Underlying Theories, and Experimental Tests, Rev. Mod. Phys. 85 (2013) 471 [1204.4325].
- [56] P. Pearle, Collapse Miscellany, arXiv e-prints (2012) arXiv:1209.5082 [1209.5082].
- [57] D.G.A. Altamura, M. Carlesso, S. Donadi and A. Bassi, Non-interferometric rotational test of the Continuous Spontaneous Localisation model: enhancement of the collapse noise through shape optimisation, 2402.13057.
- [58] P.M. Pearle and E. Squires, Bound state excitation, nucleon decay experiments, and models of wave function collapse, Phys. Rev. Lett. 73 (1994) 1.
- [59] F. Laloë, W.J. Mullin and P. Pearle, *Heating of trapped ultracold atoms by collapse dynamics*, *Phys. Rev. A* **90** (2014) 052119 [1409.5388].

- [60] J. Isern, E. García-Berro, M. Hernanz and R. Mochkovitch, The physics of white dwarfs, Journal of Physics Condensed Matter 10 (1998) 11263.
- [61] L.G. Althaus, A.H. Córsico, J. Isern and E. García-Berro, Evolutionary and pulsational properties of white dwarf stars, A&ARev 18 (2010) 471 [1007.2659].
- [62] L. Mestel, On the theory of white dwarf stars. I. The energy sources of white dwarfs, MNRAS 112 (1952) 583.
- [63] J. Isern, E. García-Berro, S. Torres and S. Catalán, Axions and the Cooling of White Dwarf Stars, ApJL 682 (2008) L109 [0806.2807].
- [64] A.H. Córsico, L.G. Althaus, M.M. Miller Bertolami, A.D. Romero, E. García-Berro, J. Isern et al., The rate of cooling of the pulsating white dwarf star G117-B15A: a new asteroseismological inference of the axion mass, MNRAS 424 (2012) 2792 [1205.6180].
- [65] M.M. Miller Bertolami, B.E. Melendez, L.G. Althaus and J. Isern, Revisiting the axion bounds from the Galactic white dwarf luminosity function, JCAP 2014 (2014) 069 [1406.7712].
- [66] M.M. Miller Bertolami, Limits on the neutrino magnetic dipole moment from the luminosity function of hot white dwarfs, A&A 562 (2014) A123 [1407.1404].
- [67] S. Bottaro, A. Caputo, G. Raffelt and E. Vitagliano, Stellar limits on scalars from electron-nucleus bremsstrahlung, JCAP 2023 (2023) 071 [2303.00778].
- [68] P. Bergeron, M. Kilic, S. Blouin, A. Bédard, S.K. Leggett and W.R. Brown, On the Nature of Ultracool White Dwarfs: Not so Cool after All, ApJ 934 (2022) 36 [2206.03174].
- [69] D.E. Winget, C.J. Hansen and H.M. van Horn, Do pulsating PG1159-035 stars put constraints on stellar evolution?, Nature 303 (1983) 781.
- [70] J. Isern, M. Hernanz and E. Garcia-Berro, Axion Cooling of White Dwarfs, ApJL 392 (1992) L23.
- [71] A.H. Córsico, L.G. Althaus, M.M. Miller Bertolami and S.O. Kepler, Pulsating white dwarfs: new insights, A&ARev 27 (2019) 7 [1907.00115].
- [72] S.O. Kepler, D.E. Winget, Z.P. Vanderbosch, B.G. Castanheira, J.J. Hermes, K.J. Bell et al., The Pulsating White Dwarf G117-B15A: Still the Most Stable Optical Clock Known, ApJ 906 (2021) 7 [2010.16062].
- [73] E. García-Berro and T.D. Oswalt, The white dwarf luminosity function, NARev 72 (2016) 1 [1608.02631].
- [74] D.R. Williams, Planetary fact sheets, https://nssdc.gsfc.nasa.gov/planetary/planetfact.html, 2016.
- [75] R.T. Pierrehumbert, Principles of Planetary Climate (2010).
- [76] L. Kraiselburd, M. Miller Bertolami, P. Sisterna and H. Vucetich, Energy production in varying α theories, A&A 529 (2011) A125 [1104.3484].
- [77] W.B. Hubbard, Thermal structure of Jupiter, ApJ 152 (1968) 745.
- [78] J.C. Pearl and B.J. Conrath, The albedo, effective temperature, and energy balance of Neptune, as determined from Voyager data, Journal of Geophysical Research Supplement 96 (1991) 18921.
- [79] J.C. Pearl, B.J. Conrath, R.A. Hanel, J.A. Pirraglia and A. Coustenis, The albedo, effective temperature, and energy balance of Uranus, as determined from Voyager IRIS data, Icarus 84 (1990) 12.
- [80] L. Li, X. Jiang, R. West, P. Gierasch, S. Perez-Hoyos, A. Sanchez-Lavega et al., Less absorbed solar energy and more internal heat for jupiter, Nature Communications 9 (2018).

- [81] T. Guillot and D. Gautier, Giant Planets, in Treatise on Geophysics, G. Schubert, ed., pp. 529–557 (2015), DOI.
- [82] J.H. Davies and D. Rhodri Davies, Earth's Surface Heat Flux, in EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts, EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts, p. 3303, May, 2010.
- [83] M. Langseth and S. Keihm, Lunar heat-flow experiment: Final technical report, Tech. Rep. https://ntrs.nasa.gov/citations/19780010035, Lamoat-Doherty Geological Observatory of Columbia University (1977).
- [84] G. Wei, X. Li, H. Gan and Y. Shi, Retrieval of lunar polar heat flow from Chang'E-2 microwave radiometer and Diviner observations, Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences 10 (2023) 1179558.
- [85] S. Guillot, G.G. Pavlov, C. Reyes, A. Reisenegger, L.E. Rodriguez, B. Rangelov et al., Hubble Space Telescope Nondetection of PSR J2144-3933: The Coldest Known Neutron Star, ApJ 874 (2019) 175 [1901.07998].
- [86] stellarcollapse.org, https://stellarcollapse.org/index.html, 2017.
- [87] P. Freire, Pulsar mass measurements and tests of general relativity, https://www3.mpifr-bonn.mpg.de/staff/pfreire/NS_masses.html, 2024.
- [88] M. Toroš, G. Gasbarri and A. Bassi, Colored and dissipative continuous spontaneous localization model and bounds from matter-wave interferometry, Physics Letters A 381 (2017) 3921 [1601.03672].
- [89] S. Torres, A. Rebassa-Mansergas, M.E. Camisassa and R. Raddi, The Gaia DR2 halo white dwarf population: the luminosity function, mass distribution, and its star formation history, MNRAS 502 (2021) 1753 [2101.03341].
- [90] S. Torres, P. Cruz, R. Murillo-Ojeda, F.M. Jiménez-Esteban, A. Rebassa-Mansergas, E. Solano et al., White dwarf spectral type-temperature distribution from Gaia DR3 and the Virtual Observatory, A&A 677 (2023) A159 [2307.13629].
- [91] A. Gianninas, B. Curd, J.R. Thorstensen, M. Kilic, P. Bergeron, J.J. Andrews et al., Ultracool white dwarfs and the age of the Galactic disc, MNRAS 449 (2015) 3966 [1503.03065].
- [92] A. Golovin, S. Reffert, A. Vani, U. Bastian, S. Jordan and A. Just, Identification of new nearby white dwarfs using Gaia DR3, A&A 683 (2024) A33 [2312.11664].
- [93] L. Li, X. Jiang, H.J. Trammell, Y. Pan, J. Hernandez, B.J. Conrath et al., Saturn's giant storm and global radiant energy, Geoph. Res. Lett. 42 (2015) 2144.
- [94] Q. Fu, Spontaneous radiation of free electrons in a nonrelativistic collapse model, Phys. Rev. A 56 (1997) 1806.
- [95] T. Kovachy, J.M. Hogan, A. Sugarbaker, S.M. Dickerson, C.A. Donnelly, C. Overstreet et al., Matter Wave Lensing to Picokelvin Temperatures, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 143004 [1407.6995].